
EMERGENCY EVACUATION INSTRUCTIONS 
If you hear the alarm, leave the building immediately.  Follow the green signs.  Use the stairs 
not the lifts.  Do not re-enter the building until told to do so. 

Notice of Meeting 

Overview and Scrutiny Commission – Advisory Meeting 
Councillor Angell (Chair), Councillor Virgo (Vice-Chair),  
Councillors Mrs Birch, Brossard, Gbadebo, MJ Gibson, Mrs Mattick, 
Mrs McKenzie-Boyle, McLean, Mossom, Porter and Temperton 
Mark Glanville, Parent Governor representative  

Tuesday 8 February 2022, 6.30 - 8.00 pm 
Online only via Teams 

 
 

Agenda 

Recommendations arising from this meeting will be considered in accordance with the 
delegations approved by Council on 28 April 2021. 

Item Description Page 

1.  Apologies for Absence   

 To receive apologies for absence and to note the attendance of any 
substitute Members. 

 

2.  Minutes of previous meeting  3 - 10 

 To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Commission held on 13 January 2022. 

 

3.  Declarations of Interest and Party Whip   

 Members are asked to declare any disclosable pecuniary or affected 
interests and the nature of that interest, including the existence and nature of 
the party whip, in respect of any matter to be considered at this meeting. 
 
Any Member with a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in a matter should 
withdraw from the meeting when the matter is under consideration and 
should notify the Democratic Services Officer in attendance that they are 
withdrawing as they have such an interest. If the Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interest is not entered on the register of Members interests the Monitoring 
Officer must be notified of the interest within 28 days. 
 
Any Member with an Affected Interest in a matter must disclose the interest 
to the meeting.  There is no requirement to withdraw from the meeting when 
the interest is only an affected interest, but the Monitoring Officer should be 
notified of the interest, if not previously notified of it, within 28 days of the 
meeting. 

 

4.  Urgent Items of Business   

 Any other items which, pursuant to Section 100B(4)(b) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the Chairman decides are urgent. 

 

5.  Public Participation   

 To receive submissions from members of the public which have been  



EMERGENCY EVACUATION INSTRUCTIONS 
If you hear the alarm, leave the building immediately.  Follow the green signs.  Use the stairs 
not the lifts.  Do not re-enter the building until told to do so. 

submitted in advance in accordance with the Council’s Public Participation 
Scheme for Overview and Scrutiny. 

6.  Council Plan Overview Report  11 - 40 

 Council Plan Overview Report (CPOR) covering the second quarter of 
2021/22 is attached.  
 
Members of the Commission are asked to submit technical or detailed 
questions in advance of the meeting. 

 

7.  Work Programme Update  41 - 42 

 Overview and Scrutiny Panel Chairs to provide verbal updates on the work 
programme and highlight any proposed changes such as scope, scheduling 
or duration. 
 
The Commission to consider the scope for SEND review from the Education, 
Skills and Growth Panel. 

 

Date of next meeting 

The next Overview and Scrutiny Commission meeting is scheduled for 7 April 2022. 

Forward plan and decisions taken 

Commission members are able to view upcoming decisions by looking at Browse forward 
plans | Bracknell Forest Council (bracknell-forest.gov.uk) and consider decisions taken since 
the last Commission meeting by using this link What's newly published | Bracknell Forest 
Council (bracknell-forest.gov.uk) and altering the date range. 
 

Sound recording, photographing, filming and use of social media is permitted.  Please 
contact Kirsty Hunt, 01344 353108, kirsty.hunt@bracknell-forest.gov.uk, so that any special 
arrangements can be made. 

Published: 31 January 2022 

https://democratic.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
https://democratic.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
https://democratic.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
https://democratic.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION 
13 JANUARY 2022 
6.30 - 8.45 PM 

  

Present: 
Councillors Angell (Chair), Virgo (Vice-Chair), Mrs Birch, Brossard, Gbadebo, MJ Gibson, 
McLean, Mrs Mattick, Porter and Temperton 
Mark Glanville, Parent Governor representative 

Apologies:  

Councillors Mrs McKenzie-Boyle and Mossom 

Executive Members Present: 
Councillor Birch, Executive Member for Adult Social Care, Health and Housing 
Councillor Heydon, Executive Member for Transformation and Finance  
Councillor Mrs Hayes MBE, Executive Member for Environment   
Councillor Turrell, Executive Member for Planning and Transport 

In attendance: 

Councillor Brown 

Also Present: 
Kevin Gibbs, Executive Director: Delivery 
Stuart McKellar, Executive Director: Resources  
Ann Moore, Head of Democratic and Registration Services 
Helen Pennington, Finance Business Partner 
Ken Robinson, Finance Business Partner 
Paul Clark, Finance Business Partner 

47. Minutes of previous meetings  

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meetings of the Commission held on 7 October 
and 4 November 2021 be approved as a correct record, and signed by the Chair.  
 
The Chair agreed to follow up the concerns raised about the responses to the Police 
questions provided for the meeting on 7 October 2021.  

48. Declarations of Interest and Party Whip  

There were no declarations of interest made. 
 
There were no indications that members would be participating while under the party 
whip.  

49. Urgent Items of Business  

There were no items of urgent business.  

50. Public Participation  

No submissions had been made by members of the public under the Council’s Public 
Participation Scheme for Overview and Scrutiny.  

3

Item 2



 

51. Highways Capital Programme  

The Commission considered the report from the Environment and Communities 
Panel which had met to gain a stronger understanding of the Highways and Transport 
Capital Programme, particularly in areas such as funding, processes and 
prioritisation. The meeting was carried out in preparation for the review of the budget 
by discussing the programme with Bracknell Forest Council’s Executive Director: 
Place, Planning and Regeneration and the Assistant Director: Highways and 
Transport. 
 
There were seven key findings from the Panel as set out in the report. There were no 
recommendations arising from the meeting as the Panel were content that the 
methodology for identifying areas of concerns was sound and acknowledged that the 
funding received from central government was ringfenced. The Panel recognised that 
whilst highway maintenance was considered underfunded, the pressures within the 
Council meant that it was not possible to increase this element of the budget.   
 
Arising from the discussion the following points were made: 

 It was observed that the quality of the road network appeared to be 
deteriorating and the cost of rebuilding roads was higher than maintaining 
them. It was explained that the maintenance programme was prioritised on a 
risk basis therefore some roads or structures required rebuilding  but 
wherever possible the life of roads would be extended using techniques such 
as grip fibre programme to recoat the roads. 

 A new Highways Asset Maintenance Plan was being developed and based on 
the funding available, intervention works or rebuilding would be considered for 
the roads and structures identified as a priority. This was reviewed annually.  

 Ringway was the Council’s highways contractor and working with them the 
Council looked to deliver innovation projects such as using greener products 
which were better for the environment. It was explained that such 
technologies needed to be tested over time to ensure that they were durable 
for the lifespan of the repair required.  

 ACTION: Executive Director: Place, Planning and Regeneration to 
update the Commission on whether new materials containing recycled 
plastic were being used within the programme 

 Potholes could be reported through Customer Services and their repair would 
then be scheduled on a priority basis. The Council uses a system called 
‘Scanner’ to survey the roads to assess if there were failings in the road 
structure, cracks and this information was used to build the profile of the 
network.  

 ACTION: In response to a query regarding new pothole filling 
technology the Executive Director: Place, Planning and Regeneration 
would clarify the current method for filling potholes used by the 
contractors  

 It was confirmed that local roads within estates were a lower priority from a 
safety and risk perspective due to the lower volume of traffic using those 
roads. The grip fibre programme which is a top dressing to bring roads up to a 
reasonable level and extend the life of the road is a regular feature in the 
Council’s annual programme. 

 A mixture of approaches was used to fund the improvement and maintain 
cycle lanes. Through Section 106 monies the cycle network was extended to 
fix connections whilst some government funding was received for alternative 
modes of transport.  

 The existing cycle network would not require modifications for escooter use 
but further thought may be required on the etiquette of using them.  

4



 

The Commission Chair thanked the Panel for their input to the session, for helping to 
produce the informative paper which would form an important part of understanding 
the budget consultation.   
 
The Commission noted the Panel’s Highways and Transport Capital 
Programme report.  

52. Budget Consultation  

The Commission considered the Council’s draft budget proposals for 2022/23 before 
deciding whether they supported the recommendations which were open for public 
consultation. The Commission invited Councillor Heydon, Executive Member for 
Transformation and Finance and Stuart McKellar, Executive Director: Resources to 
attend the meeting to answer their questions on the details of the proposals. The 
Council’s financial business partners: Helen Pennington, Paul Clark and Ken 
Robinson also attended the meeting to provide detailed information relating to 
services.  
 
Arising from the discussion the following points were made: 

 Assumptions had been made throughout the budget proposals as detailed 
settlement information was not available and known risks were projected so 
further adjustments would be made once the details were available and the 
level of pressures were confirmed. 

 At the time the proposals were drafted a £3 – 5 million gap had been identified 
and an increase to council taxes by 4.49% would generate £3m towards that 
gap. 

 The uncertainty of receiving an annual settlement for the third year made it 
difficult for longer term financial planning to be undertaken. 

 The key message from the Executive Member for Transformation and Finance 
was that there were no proposed drastic reductions in services within the 
budget proposals. 

 The settlement details announced an unexpected service grant for 2022-23 
for £1.2m in addition to the funding expected. 

 Although the borough’s leisure services were contracted to Everyone Active, 
the Council continued to own the land and properties and therefore were 
responsible for their ongoing maintenance including the £120K golf green 
drainage and £50K roof repairs highlighted at both Coral Reef and Bracknell 
Leisure Centre.  

 In relation to the roof repairs it was explained that the Sports Centre had 
multiple areas of roofing, a condition survey had been undertaken and this 
was a different area requiring maintenance in order to remain fit for purpose. 

 In response to an enquiry on the sense of the ongoing cost repairs in favour of 
investing in a new building, it was explained that a long term project was in 
place to consider the changing requirements for residents but that ongoing 
maintenance was essential until a replacement was required.   

 The £100K cost of remedial repairs to High Street car park to deal with cracks 
in concrete was raised, although it was noted that this was a safety issue 
requiring attention it was the quality of the system managing entry to the site 
which was of concern to some members. Action: Executive Director: 
Delivery to take the concerns regarding the ANPR system back to the 
Parking Team.  

 It was clarified that the £100K on page 32 of the agenda papers referring to 
Local Transport Plan schemes related to improvements to the highways 
network. 

5



 

 It was noted that the estimated £3.25m to be received from Community 
Infrastructure Levy was difficult to predict and would not cover these 
requirements of the significant infrastructure within the borough. 

 In response to concerns raised regarding the lifespan of laptops and the 
technology available it was explained that the laptop refresh and replacement 
programme referred to on p.32 aimed to renew equipment every four years. 
This was part of the asset management programme with priority given to 
replacing older equipment. Councillors were reminded to report any 
equipment issues to the ICT Helpdesk. 

 The Invest-To-Save scheme set out on page 31 of the agenda papers was 
highlighted as providing the opportunity for investing in innovation and new 
technology.  

 Concerns were raised regarding potential missed opportunities to reduce 
climate change impacts when property repairs and maintenance were 
undertaken such as installing solar panels or insulation or to future proof 
equipment for example choosing boilers capable of being converted to use 
hydrogen. The agenda papers indicated on pages 40 and 41 that the impact 
on climate change had been assessed as not applicable. In response the 
Executive Member for Transformation and Finance stated that as a matter of 
practice professionals assessed sites for suitability for such schemes. Action: 
Executive Director: Resources to feed these concerns back to the 
Assistant Director: Property.  

 It was confirmed that the Bridgewell Centre was not currently functioning as 
an Adult Social Care asset as it was being prepared to be redeveloped. A 
feasibility study would be develop to explore how it could be used as an asset 
to respond to the increased number of older residents with learning 
disabilities.  

 The significant range of proposed cost for the works to address a safety issue 
at Garth Hill College was queried. It was noted that although this was a 
relatively new building this was not a design fault. The wide range in the 
estimate figures reflected that there were a number of potential solutions 
which were originally proposed but a cheaper scheme, expected not to 
exceed £150K, was being developed and would be funded from the capital 
programme. This was an example of changing information since the budget 
proposals were developed.  

 The deletion of the climate change reduction initiative was challenged and it 
was explained that this had been approved for 2021/22 only. The ongoing 
approach to achieve climate change objectives was to ensure all spending 
decisions incorporate climate change consideration in their implementation. 
New climate change initiatives were also deliverable via the invest to save 
scheme. 

 The Council had currently borrowed £80 million. This was made up of a range 
of loans with some due to be repaid over two and three years with others 
being repaid over a 50-60 year term. The average interest rate was 2 - 3%. 
This borrowing was monitored and reported through the Governance and 
Audit Committee.  

 A review of the draft budget proposals would be undertaken to reflect 
changing circumstances which would present an updated assessment of the 
budget gap for councillors to assess how to bridge the gap from various 
options. 

 It was acknowledged that the budget to cover the cost of Conservation and 
Heritage advice was not sufficient to cover the costs resulting from dealing 
with heritage matters.  

6



 

 It was confirmed that if the additional costs incurred from dealing with 
Planning appeals could not be recovered they would be reported as a 
pressure on the budget. 

 It was highlighted that in relation to the removal of the Climate Change 
Carbon Reduction Initiative it was not mentioned in the report that it was a 
one-off government grant. 

 It was suggested that it would be useful to include further explanation at 5.2 
on page 40 regarding the removal of items approved for one year as it was 
not clear. It was clarified that there had been a significant generous funding 
package to target the covid response and this had been used to pump prime 
some initiatives but this was supplementary to core budgets.  

 The objective of the additional funding proposed to implement hybrid meeting 
was to enable full participation.  

 Concerns were highlighted relating to the significant funding required for the 
pressures identified for both Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) 
(£7.5 million) and the High Needs Block (£20 million). It was confirmed that 
8% government funding increases had been received in the previous two 
years but this was still lower than the pressures experienced so the costs 
continued to increase. This was a national issue and local authorities had a 
three-year period in which to balance their income and expenditure and there 
was another year to go in the process. The expectation was then to consider 
the accumulated deficit position nationally before further decisions were 
made. 

 It was confirmed that the costs associated with restructuring the Special 
Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) team would be considered as part 
of the final proposals but those costs had not been included in the draft 
proposals. 

 The approach used to model the potential costs in uncertain circumstances 
was for services to develop best and worst case cost scenarios.  

 The Employment Committee was undertaking a project to review initiatives to 
address increasing staffing costs, retention issues and agency workers within 
social care. 

 It was acknowledged that the costs associated with waste management were 
complicated and there was a difficult balance between increasing the level of 
food waste collected and the cost benefits that could be achieved due to the 
thresholds within the current contractual arrangements.   

 Although there was business rate relief available for small businesses there 
was not something specifically in place to promote or support new 
businesses. This was a national position rather than a local choice option.  

 It was accepted that the £500K saving on agency staff spend was proposed 
as a speculative target against the current £4m spend. The intention was to 
provide a challenging but deliverable target to frame the ongoing work to 
reduce core spending within the organisation and as such reduce the risk of 
overspending. It was acknowledged that although the cost of agency staff had 
been identified as a challenge in the past a savings target had not previously 
been set.    

 In previous years a handful of people responded to the public consultation 
and this tended to fluctuate when there was a particular issue. To date 70 
responses had been received with a large number appearing to be from taxi 
drivers regarding proposed changes to licensing charges.  

 The consultation was promoted through social media, via business 
newsletters and other publications. 

 It was explained that undertaking a participatory budget exercise would not be 
possible without the certainty of a longer-term settlement.   

7



 

 The Department for Education were reducing by 20% per annum grant 
support for a range of areas supporting vulnerable pupils, such as education 
support for children looked after. The pressure of £71k was to supplement this 
funding to ensure the continuation of this support. 

 It was confirmed that the Council currently had £10m in general reserves and 
£18m in future funding reserve as funding issues had been anticipated for 
some time. In the past the Audit Commission had recommended that Councils 
retain 5% in reserves but there was no restrictions or limits. Councils were in 
different financial positions across the country. It was clarified that it was 
misleading as for example due to changes in business grants additional 
funding was available but the Council had been unable to spend it during the 
year it had been awarded. The large amounts provided to support the 
response to covid had been paid out directly to local businesses in the form of 
business grants.  

 It was reflected that the Councils reserves were prudent with significant issues 
on the financial horizon and that the reasons for maintaining the current levels 
of reserves needed to be robust so as not to be interpreted as additional or 
available.  

 It was explained that there was no correlation between the level of the new 
homes bonus and target number of new homes that needed to be built in the 
borough. 

 It was reiterated that in uncertain circumstances the best case budget 
scenario would be included in the reviewed draft proposals and that the risk of 
the worst case scenarios would be managed through corporate contingency 
planning.  

 Action: Executive Director: Resources to advise the Commission on 
details of the combined figure of £230K listed as ‘Other’ on page 29 of 
the agenda papers which related to Property Services 

 
The Commission supported the recommendations as presented in the agenda 
papers relating to the capital programme and the revenue element of the 
budget. 

53. Council Plan Overview Report  

The Chair advised the meeting that this item had been deferred to the next 
Commission meeting. 

54. Work Programme Update  

Each Panel Chair provided a verbal update on work programme progress. 
 
Education, Skills and Growth 
 
The Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) review scope had been 
circulated but members of the Commission had not had time to consider it in advance 
of the meeting.  
 
The Commission supported the programme that had been developed 
continuing to progress but deferred approval of the draft SEND scope to the 
next Commission meeting.  
 
Health and Care 
 
The review activity had concluded for the Mental Health review scope and 
recommendations were discussed at a meeting on 10 January 2022. The review 

8



 

report was being drafted and would be brought for consideration to the April 
Commission meeting.  
 
Environment and Communities  
 
A programme of activity had been developed for the Integrated Enforcement review 
and this was due to launch in February with the schedule of witnesses still in 
development.  

55. Forward plan and decisions taken  

The Commission noted that the information regarding upcoming decisions and any 
decision taken had been included to enable discussions as appropriate. This would 
be shared on future agendas as information rather than an item. 

CHAIR 

9



This page is intentionally left blank



To: Overview and Scrutiny Commission 
8 February 2022 

  
 

Council Plan Overview Report 
Statutory Scrutiny Officer 

1 Introduction 

1.1 The Centre for Public Scrutiny’s briefing paper ‘Putting financial and performance 
management information to good use’ stated that “Performance management is a 
method for improving services – it’s about making things better for local people and 
about ensuring that the way services are planned and delivered provides value for 
money”.  

1.2 The Council Plan Overview Report (CPOR) covering the second quarter of 2020/21 
is attached. This briefing is intended to assist those involved in scrutiny to consider 
the information shared to provide insight into whether improvements or adjustments 
are necessary to support the work of the Council.  

2 Supporting Information 

2.1 The Council Plan sets out the key objectives for 2019 to 2023. It delivers the 
commitments made to residents in the 2019 local election. It puts these commitments 
into the current financial context and provides the council with a strategic direction 
and framework.   

 
2.2 At the end of each quarter, the Chief Executive provides a high-level summary report 

of performance across all services to the Executive, this is known as the Council Plan 
performance overview report or CPOR. This report identifies achievements as well as 
areas of concern and demonstrates how action is being taken where it is required.  

 

2.3 When reviewing the performance data attached Commission members could 
consider: 

 has performance, according to the council’s own measures, been poor for two 
successive quarters?  

 do the number and nature of complaints suggest that there are causes for 
concern?  

 does recent work relating to self-regulation or other assessment or inspection 
activities, suggest that there is cause for common concern?  

 is this a priority for the organisation at the moment?  

 are significant over or underspends being reported?  

 have there been issues with demand or supply and what does it tell us about the 
future?  

 has spending on this specific project or policy achieved value for money and what 
social value has it added?  

 does performance and finance information align with your own research?, 
particularly the experience of service-users  

 Finally consider whether the criteria have been reached to suggest to the 
Commission that further time is spent on a specific matter through: 

o the relevant portfolio member being invited to address the issue at a 
future meeting or 

11

Item 6



o additional review activity taking priority other which scheduled activity 
within the Overview and Scrutiny work programme?  

2.2 Members of the Commission are asked to submit technical or detailed questions in 
advance of the meeting. 

3 Equalities Impact Assessment 

3.1 The Council Plan focuses on the things that matter most to Bracknell Forest 
residents based on a narrative which recognises Bracknell Forest as “the borough of 
opportunity". When aligning performance and finance information with the 
experiences of service users’ members of the Commission should consider the 
potential impact on all of the borough’s residents. 

4 Strategic Risk Management Issues 

4.1 Effective scrutiny is important to the successful functioning of local democracy by 
securing the efficient delivery of Council services and driving improvements. 
Overview and Scrutiny has a vital role in performance management by linking the 
planning and delivery of services to the experiences of and impact upon local people. 
Poor scrutiny can be indicative of wider governance, leadership and/or service 
failure.   

Background Papers 

Putting financial and performance management information to good use, CfGS 
Putting-financial-and-performance-management-information-to-good-use.pdf (cfgs.org.uk) 
 
Contact for further information 
Kevin Gibbs, Executive Director: Resources and Statutory Scrutiny Officer  
01344 355621 
Kevin.gibbs@bracknell-forest.gov.uk  

12

https://www.cfgs.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Putting-financial-and-performance-management-information-to-good-use.pdf
mailto:Kevin.gibbs@bracknell-forest.gov.uk


  Annex A 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
COUNCIL PLAN 
OVERVIEW 
REPORT 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Q2 2021 - 22 
July – September 2021 
 
 
 

Chief Executive: 
Timothy Wheadon 

13



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 2 2021/22  Page 2 

Contents 
 
Section 1: Chief Executive’s Commentary ........................... 3 
Section 2: Chief Executive’s Office ....................................... 6 
Section 3: Budget Position .................................................... 8 
Section 4: Strategic Themes ................................................ 13 

Value for money .................................................................. 13 
Economic resilience ........................................................... 14 
Education and skills ........................................................... 15 
Caring for you and your family .......................................... 17 
Protecting and enhancing our environment .................... 19 

Section 5: Corporate Health ................................................. 24 
a) Summary of People ........................................................ 24 
b) Summary of Complaints ................................................ 26 
c) Strategic Risks and Audits ............................................ 27 

 

Key  
 

 

Performance is very good 

 

Performance is causing concern 

 

Performance is weak 

 RAG rating not applicable  

 Missing data 

 Missing target 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

14



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 2 2021/22  Page 3 

Section 1: Chief Executive’s Commentary 
 

1 Introduction  
 
1.1 This report sets out an overview of the council’s performance for the second quarter 

of 2021/22 (July - September 2021).  The purpose is to formally provide the 
Executive with a high-level summary of key achievements, and to highlight areas 
where performance was not matching targets or expectations, along with any 
remedial action that is being taken.  It complements the detailed Quarterly Service 
Reports (QSRs) and is based upon the performance data that is available to all 
Members online. 
 

1.2 This quarter the CPOR also includes more detail on the work of the Chief Executive’s 
Office which would previously have been included in the Central Directorates QSR.  
However, reporting arrangements have been changed to allow for separate reports 
for the Place, Planning and Regeneration and Resources Directorates. 
 

1.3 As everyone will know the council continues to function in the context of the Covid-19 
pandemic and many Members and staff continue to focus on leading our community 
response, nevertheless the council’s strategic objectives continue to progress well 
overall.  This is the second quarterly report of the 2021/22 financial year and at the 
end of the second quarter progress showed:  
 

▪ 96 actions (90%) are green (6 complete, 90 in progress) 

▪ 9 actions (9%) are amber (in progress) 

▪ 1 action (1%) is red (in progress) 
 
1.4 Section 3 of this report contains information on the performance indicators across the 

council for each of the strategic themes.  Again, the picture was positive particularly 
in the face of the Covid-19 pandemic.  The status for the key indicators in the Council 
Plan in the first quarter is: 

 

▪ 21 (72%) green 

▪ 4 (14%) amber 

▪ 4 (14%) red 
 

25 further indicators have no set target or data is currently unavailable. 
 
 

2. Overview of Q2 and what went especially well 
 
2.1 Overall, teams delivered services to a high standard during the period, especially in 

response to Covid-19.  I have highlighted here a small selection of examples from 
across the organisation. 

 
2.2  The “Bracknell Forest Giants” event in the town centre was successfully staged as 

part of the council’s economic reactivation programme in August.  The 10-day event 
saw three major instillations in the town, along with a full and varied events 
programme.  The event achieved national press coverage, saw increased spend and 
footfall in the town, and received great user feedback.  Other projects to support the 
economic recovery as part of the “Welcome Back Funding” are being developed in 
other locations particularly Crowthorne. 

 

15



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 2 2021/22  Page 4 

2.3 Our full allocation of £3.6m Additional Restrictions Grant £3.6m from central 
government has been paid out to local businesses, attracting an additional £800k to 
help those small businesses most in need over the remainder of this financial year.  
We are continuing to pay grant to businesses who were slow in coming forward to 
claim the grant and are currently assessing options to pay the remaining sum of 
£0.5m by the end of the financial year. 

 
2.4 The property Joint Venture with Countryside continues to make good progress 

developing detailed delivery plans for the Coopers Hill and Market Street sites.  It is 
expected that a final site delivery plan including updated financial inputs and returns 
for Coopers Hill will be presented to the Council for formal consideration later in 
2021, with Market Street following early in 2022, subject to planning approval being 
granted. 

 
2.5 The Health and Wellbeing Strategy is due for publication in January 22.  The Public 

health programme review is taking place informed by the Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy, JSNA and the national Public Health new system priorities.  The overall 
“Health in All Policies” (HiAP) approach and Terms of Reference have been agreed.  
There will be an initial focus on developing a Health Impact Assessment approach as 
well as HiAP being considered in the council procurement guidelines. 

 
2.6 The council was nominated in three categories for the South East Energy Efficiency 

Awards reflecting the work of the Sustainable Energy Officer, Hazel Hill, to secure 
funding to improve the energy efficiency of some of our most vulnerable residents’ 
homes.  The awards (held on 1 October 2021) resulted in both a commendation for 
the council’s work in this area, and a win in the individual category recognising Hazel 
Hill’s efforts. 

 
2.7 Within Parks and Countryside the new menu was launched in the rebranded 

Woodlarks Café at The Look Out, Swinley Forest along with a new Look Out booking 
system (Digitickets).  To date this has worked well and there has been a good 
response to the new menu.  Three film/TV productions were filmed in the borough’s 
green spaces.  Tree enquires remain high however, creating some backlog.  Work is 
being prioritised to deal with the most important and urgent issues. 

 
2.8 Work continues to deliver on the actions from the Workforce Plan including finalising 

the Learning and Development Strategy and a new project focused on reducing 
agency spend.  The Learning and Development Strategy has been informed by a 
skills survey which provided a response rate of over 50% and by consulting directly 
with managers across the council to ensure all mandatory and compulsory training 
requirements are covered.  The strategy will be finalised in the next quarter. 

 
2.9 In picking out these highlights there is a real danger of overlooking the special efforts 

of teams who are not mentioned.  The simple fact is that the whole organisation 
continues to adapt very well and is delivering effective services. 

 

What are we doing about things not going so well? 
 
3.1 Within Highways and Transport progress on the A322 Sports Centre Roundabout 

improvement scheme has been slightly delayed.  However. design and planning work 
is well underway for a full refurbishment of the A322 Birch Hill junction traffic signals.    

 
3.2 The bounce back of the economy has created some issues with supply chain, labour 

and energy across the whole country.  Local mitigation plans are being developed to 
address this emerging pressure, including in relation to sourcing IT equipment which 
has become a global problem. 

 

16



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 2 2021/22  Page 5 

 
 
Forward Look 
 
Going forward, the council’s strategic objectives will continue to progress in the coming 
weeks alongside the council’s community response to Covid-19 which has also been 
incorporated into department service plans and reporting. 

 

Timothy Wheadon 
Chief Executive 

17



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 2 2021/22  Page 6 

Section 2: Chief Executive’s Office  
 
Assistant Director’s Overview 
 
Staff have continued to work effectively almost exclusively from home during Quarter 2, 
though an increasing number of staff started to return to the office for a day a week from 
July.  
 
During Quarter 2 the business change team’s focus has moved back to supporting the 
transformation programme having been deployed to support a wide range of Covid response 
priorities over the last 18 months.  The team have supported the new Executive Director: 
People to review the focus of the People change programme, while simultaneously enabling 
delivery of key projects including the high needs block, adult social care conversations 
model and children’s social care fostering and placements projects.  
 
The Business change team support has also been provided to enable the delivery of the 
Time Square community hub which is due to open to community groups in November 2021 
and to the public in January 2022; the Ways of Working programme including hybrid meeting 
rooms, model office, a new contact management application for EDS and a print service 
review and the Asset Review programme.  
 
The communications and marketing team’s activities have been split in to three main 
functions during this quarter, which will remain in place for the rest of the year: COVID 
communications; strategic and significant projects; and events.  The appointment of an 
additional COVID comms officer and part-time graphic designer has seen BAU 
communications capacity return to pre-pandemic levels.  The communications and 
marketing team supported several business-as-usual campaigns, on themes including 
climate change; regeneration; health and wellbeing; equalities and diversity. 
 
The results of the Town & Country survey revealed that 95 per cent of respondents thought 
the magazine provided valuable and useful information; the magazine was also the most 
popular channel for council news and information, followed by the council website, leaflets 
and other publications and social media.  
 
The Bracknell Forest Giants event was launched in partnership with The Lexicon in August. 
The marketing collectively reached 11 million impacts and the social media impact was 14 
times higher than the industry average.  It generated 53 press articles, including national 
coverage in The Telegraph and The Guardian online. 75 per cent of retailers reported 
significant uplift against 2019 and footfall was up 23.7 per cent compared to 2020 for the 
same period. 
 
The community engagement and equalities team developed recommendations for the 
ownership and management of the Buckler’s Park Community Hub and facilities and the 
community centre element of the Binfield Community and Health Hub.  The 
recommendations were considered by the Executive in October. 
 
We have worked in partnership with the CCG and Involve on the development of a 
community deal approach focussed on enabling communities to further develop self-reliance 
and take action to address their health and wellbeing needs as a delivery mechanism for the 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy.   
 
Considerable progress was made on advancing equalities including delivering inclusive 
conversations unconscious bias training to senior managers, launching the equality allies 

18



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 2 2021/22  Page 7 

scheme with 26 staff volunteers, running a public consultation on the organisation’s new 
equality objectives and supporting the Member’s Equalities Working Group to develop their 
recommendations on equality, diversity and inclusion and the development of a Mayor’s 
Charter.  A programme of EqIA training has been delivered to further develop staff capability 
to conduct EqIAs.   
   
A workshop was held with the Bracknell Forest Civilian Military Partnership to review its 
TOR, membership and workplan going forward. Progress has been made in working with 
officers from other Berkshire Authorities in developing the remit of the Royal Berkshire 
Civilian Military Partnership meeting in November 
 
There has been a continued focus of the policy function to support the corporate complaints 
process.  This has included several investigations and the review of the current complaints 
policy.  
 
Planning is also underway for the upcoming Corporate Peer Challenge, which the council 
will welcome in November 2021.  Through September, a detail position statement has been 
developed to reflect on the operations and approach of the council.   
 

COVID 19 

 
The communications and marketing team’s main focus continues to be on COVID-19, 
specifically on promoting health and hygiene safety advice, self-isolation and testing and 
vaccination including the launch of several vaccine pop-up sites.  They are supported by the 
engagement team’s Covid engagement activities with specific communities across the 
borough. 
 
Wide ranging and on-going support have been provided to the community associations who 
manage the Council’s community centres to support their recovery from the pandemic and 
longer-term sustainability. 
 
A significant focus in Quarter 2 has been extending and establishing the processes for 
distributing government funding linked to welfare.  This has involved aligning the work across 
the council to agree a single approach, primarily to support children eligible for free school 
meals with food vouchers over the school holidays.  Much of this support is related to the 
pandemic, however, the CXO corporate policy function is leading to develop a longer term 
and sustainable plan for addressing financial hardship across the council.  This is being 
enabled by the appointment of a dedicated Financial Hardship Project Officer.  

  

19



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 2 2021/22  Page 8 

Section 3: Budget Position  

 
REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 
 

The monthly monitoring returns are set out in detail in each directorate’s Quarterly Service 
Report (QSR).   

Due to the impact of the pandemic on the current years’ budget and the resulting 
uncertainty, a range of potential outcomes have been considered.  The returns now include 
estimated best and worst case scenarios which reflect actual expenditure to date plus a 
range of financial predictions from Assistant Directors covering the remainder of the year.  
Across the Council, variances have been identified indicating expenditure is above the 
approved budget ((£1.553m Best Case and £3.712m Worst Case) after taking into account 
the Corporate Contingency (£1.155m) and income compensation for the first quarter.  This 
figure excludes use of the £3.417m balance on the COVID-19 Contingency which would 
produce an overall variance of -£1.864m Best Case and +£0.295m Worst Case. 

Key information around directorate variances being reported follows.  

 

 

20



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 2 2021/22  Page 9 

 

 

21



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 2 2021/22  Page 10 

 

 

22



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 2 2021/22  Page 11 

 

 

23



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 2 2021/22  Page 12 

 

24



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 2 2021/22  Page 13 

Section 4: Strategic Themes 

Value for money 

 
 
 

25



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 2 2021/22  Page 14 

 

Economic resilience 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

26



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 2 2021/22  Page 15 

Education and skills 
 

 

27



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 2 2021/22  Page 16 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

82.0% 

82.0% 

82.0% 

28



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 2 2021/22  Page 17 

Caring for you and your family 
 

 

29



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 2 2021/22  Page 18 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

30



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 2 2021/22  Page 19 

Protecting and enhancing our environment 
 

 

31



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 2 2021/22  Page 20 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

32



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 2 2021/22  Page 21 

Communities 
 
 

 

33



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 2 2021/22  Page 22 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

34



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 2 2021/22  Page 23 

Covid-19 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

35



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 2 2021/22  Page 24 

Section 5: Corporate Health  

 

a) Summary of People  
 

Staff Voluntary Turnover 
 

Department 
Previous 
Figure* 

For the last 
4 quarters 

Notes 

People 14.22% 17.95%  

Delivery 10.15% 11.11%  

Resources 7.36% 8.60%  

PPR 10.32% 13.29%  

Chief Executive’s Office 5.26% 13.51%  

Total Voluntary Turnover 12.15% 15.26%  

    * This figure relates to the previous 4 quarters and is taken from the preceding CPOR.  

 
Comparator data % 

Total voluntary turnover for BFC, 2020/21:                         11.2% 

Average voluntary turnover rate UK public sector 2016:                     10.0% 

Average Local Government England voluntary turnover 2016:   14.0% 

    (Source: XPertHR Staff Turnover Rates and Cost Survey 2016 and LGA Workforce Survey 2016) 

36



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 2 2021/22  Page 25 

Staff Sickness 
 

Department 
Quarter 4 

20/21 (days 
per employee) 

Previous Financial 
Year (Actual 

Average days per 
employee) 

2020/21 Estimated 
Annual Average 

(days per 
employee) 

Notes 

People 1.6 5.93 6.4  

Delivery 1.14 7.67 4.56  

PPR 0.53 2.47 2.12  

Resources 1.32 4.65 5.28  

Chief Executive’s 
Office 

1.64 2.3 6.56 
 

Total staff 
sickness excluding 
maintained 
schools 

1.36 5.67 5.44 

 

 
 

Comparator data All employees, average days 
sickness absence per employee 

Bracknell Forest Council (Non-Schools) 20/21                         5.67 days 

English Local Authorities 2017/18       8.6 days 

(Source: Local Government Workforce Survey 2017/18) 

 
People 
Sickness absence has increased slightly since the last quarter.  There have been big jumps 
in Adult Social Care and Early Help & Communities while Mental Health and Out of Hours 
has seen a significant reduction.  53% of the sickness remains attributable to long-term 
sickness.  Covid-19 represents 6% of the absences this quarter which is an increase from 
the previous quarter. 
 
Delivery 
Sickness for this quarter has gone up quite significantly since last quarter across most areas 
of the Directorate.  The percentage of long-term sickness has risen to 42.6% this quarter 
with a total of 4 members of staff being off long-term during the quarter but only one remains 
off at the end of the quarter. Covid-19 represents 10.6% of the absence this quarter. 
 
Resources 
Absence levels have risen in the last quarter.  58% of the absence were attributed to long 
term sickness (3 members of staff).  27% of the absence was attributable to Covid-19 this 
quarter. 
 
Place, Planning & Regeneration 
Absence has risen this quarter compared to last quarter.  51% of the absence was attributed 
to long term sickness (3 members of staff) and 0.5% was attributed to Covid-19. 
 
 
 

37



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 2 2021/22  Page 26 

b) Summary of Complaints  
 

Department Type of 
complaint 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 
Total 

cumulative 
complaints 

Outcome of all complaints received year 
to date 

People: Adults Statutory 

12 14   26 

5 – upheld/fully substantiated 
7 – partially upheld/partially substantiated 
8 – not upheld/not substantiated 
5 – no finding 
1 – in progress 

Local 
Government 
Ombudsman 

0 0   0 

 

People: Childrens Statutory stage 1 

24 17   41 

3 – in progress 
4 – upheld/fully substantiated 
13 – partially upheld/partially substantiated 
12 – not upheld/not substantiated 
5 - no finding made 
4 – proceeded to stage 2 

Statutory stage 2 
2 1   3 

2 – in progress 
1 – partially upheld 

Statutory stage 3 0 0   0 
 

Stage 2 1 1   2 2 – not upheld  

Stage 3 0 2   2 2 – not upheld 

Local 
Government 
Ombudsman 

0 0   0 
 

People: Housing 

Stage 2 3 2   5 5 – partially upheld  
Stage 3 0 0   0  

Local 
Government 
Ombudsman 

0 0   0 
 

Central Stage 2 
2 2   4 

2 – in progress 
1 – not upheld 
1 – proceeded to stage 3 

Stage 3 
2 2   4 

1 – in progress 
3 – not upheld 

Local 
Government 
Ombudsman 

3 0   3 
3 – not upheld 

Delivery Stage 2 
3 0   3 

1 – in progress 
2 – not upheld 

Stage 3 0 0   0  

Local 
Government 
Ombudsman 

0 0   0 

 

 
People: Adults 
There were 14 complaints in quarter 2.  Compared to this time last year, this figure is up 
from 6.  This is 8 more.  
 
People: Childrens 
There were 21 complaints in quarter 2.  Compared to this time last year, the figure is up from 
18.  This is 3 more.   
 
Central 
There were 4 complaints in quarter 2.  Compared to this time last year, the figure is exactly 
the same.   
 
Delivery 
There were no complaints in quarter 2.  Compared to this time last year, the figure is down 
from 2. 

38



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 2 2021/22  Page 27 

c) Strategic Risks and Audits 

During quarter 2 the Register was reviewed by the Strategic Risk Management Group on 4th 
November 2021.  The following changes were agreed:  

 To remove the Brexit risks and incorporate any impact from Brexit in the remaining 

risks;  

 To reduce the COVID risk score. 

 

39



This page is intentionally left blank



Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) Action Plan 
Education, Skills and Growth Overview & Scrutiny Panel 

Reason for review: 
Nationally, the number of pupils with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) 
increased to 1.37 million pupils in 2020. During the Covid-19 pandemic the attainment gap 
between SEND and average pupils was reported to have increased by over 20% across all 
age groups at a national level.* 
 
Locally, Bracknell Forest Council and its partners recently underwent a SEND inspection. The  
Panel intends to scrutinise how leaders are responding to the outcome of the inspection by 
tracking the SEND Action Plan. In particular, the Panel is keen to understand how inclusive 
the Council and its partners have been when developing support and services for children 
and young people with SEND and their parents/carers, to ensure Bracknell Forest provision 
enables children and young people with SEND to lead fulfilling lives. 
 
The Panel acknowledges supporting SEND children throughout the Covid-19 pandemic 
temporarily impacted on the local authority’s ability to provide services and support.  
 
*Special educational needs and disability: an analysis and summary of data sources - May 2021 
(publishing.service.gov.uk) 
 

Objectives/scope 
 
Key questions: 
• Do we have an agreed local vision for our children’s services including those with SEND? 
What is the policy on inclusion? 
• Do we know how we are performing in SEND? (by understanding our data and need, for 
example?) 
• How are our parents voices heard and responded to? What mechanisms do we have in 
place? 
• How do we hear the voice of children and Young people and can we show how they 
influence our decisions? 
• What are our mechanisms for joint commissioning and multi-agency working and do we 
know if they are delivering what families need? 
 
Stage one – scrutinise the following information: 

 Bracknell Forest’s Special Needs and Disability Improvement Strategy 2020-2021 

 Bracknell Forest’s SEND Action Plan 2021 

 Data regarding attainment and attendance (potentially exclusions) of children and 
young people with SEND 

 The number of children and young people with EHCPs compared to national and 
comparator authorities, specifically looking at age of identification and protected 
characteristics 
 

Stage two – develop key lines of enquiries by: 

 Reviewing recent local authority SEND inspections and interviewing representatives in 
other local authorities  

 Interviewing lead officers in Berkshire Healthcare Foundation Trust; East Berkshire 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and Bracknell Forest Council 

41

Item 7

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/985162/Special_educational_needs_Publication_May21_final.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/985162/Special_educational_needs_Publication_May21_final.pdf


 Interviewing the Bracknell Forest Executive Member for Children, Young People and 
Learning  

 Interviewing third sector organisations (including Berkshire Autistic Society and Pinc 

 Interviewing representatives from Bracknell’s Child Development Centre 

 Interviewing parent/carer forum representatives (National Network Parent Carer 
Forums, NNPCF) 

 Interviewing children and young people with SEND 

 Visiting schools with specialist provision and interviewing education representatives 
i.e. Head Teachers, governors, SENCOs and Family Support Workers  
 

At the conclusion of this work the Panel will produce a report highlighting its findings and 
propose recommendations to the Executive. 
 

Delivery methods: Desk top reviews; interviews, case studies, observation, mystery 
shopping and school visits. 

Council theme: Education and Skills 
 

Council team: People 

Review due:  May 2021 Proposed by: Cllr Mrs Gill Birch 
 

Equalities Impact Assessment 

This review will specifically impact children with special educational needs and disabilities and 

their parents/carers.  

 

Financial and legal implications 
There are potentially legal and financial implications of any recommendations arising from this 
review which will be fully addressed in the review report.    
 

Climate Change implications 
The review may have an impact on climate change issues. Any issues will be identified during 
the review and addressed in the final report. 
 

  

42


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of previous meeting
	6 Council Plan Overview Report
	CPOR Q2 Jul-Sep 2021

	7 Work Programme Update

